## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-2288

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

J.P., a Child,

Respondent.

## ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

# BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

RICHARD E. DORAN Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0239437
Office of the Attorney
General
110 S.E. 6<sup>TH</sup> Street, 9<sup>th</sup> Floor
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301
PH. (954) 712-4600
FAX (954) 712 4761

#

QUESTION PRESENTED																					
WHETHER THE TAMPA JUVENILE CURFEW																					
ORDINANCE IS CONSTITUTIONAL?																					

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 27, 1996, the State filed a Petition for Delinquency against Respondent, charging him with violating Tampa's Juvenile Curfew Ordinance on December 7, 1996. (R. 8-9). Prior to the adjudicatory hearing Respondent filed a motion to declare the Ordinance unconstitutional on the ground that it was void for vagueness, restricted the rights of free speech, association, and assembly, penalized wholly innocent conduct and was overbroad. (R. 12-59). On February 4, 1997, a hearing, consisting solely of legal argument, was held on said motion. (R. 109-125). The trial court denied the motion, and Respondent pled no contest reserving his right to appeal the denial of his motion to declare the Juvenile Curfew Ordinance unconstitutional. (R. 121-122).

The Second District, after reviewing the juvenile curfew under the Equal Protection Clause's intermediate standard of review, affirmed the trial court and found that the juvenile curfew ordinance was constitutional. The Second District then certified two questions to the this Court. The first was what is the appropriate standard of review and the second, under the standard of review, ordinance appropriate was the constitutional. This Court agreed with the State that the appropriate standard of review is strict scrutiny and then remanded the case to the Second District so it could answer the second question.

On remand the Second District found the ordinance was unconstitutional because it was enacted based on a general need to protect juveniles. This was error since the Tampa City Counsel enacted the juvenile curfew in the face of statistical evidence that it was facing a mounting problem of nighttime juvenile crime and victimization. The Second District refused to consider these statistics or remand the case to the trial court. Instead ,it reviewed the curfew ordinance as it if was enacted in a legislative vacuum and found that it was not narrowly tailored to the general interest of protecting juveniles. The Second District then certified the instant question to this Court. (A. 1-9).

This petition follows.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Tampa's Juvenile Curfew Ordinance is facially constitutional since it passes the strict scrutiny test of the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution. Said provision requires that when a fundamental right is regulated, the State must have a compelling state interest, the regulation must promote that interest and must be narrowly tailored to advance that interest.

A youth curfew effects a minor's constitutional right to walk freely in public. This right can be regulated to protect the well being of children. Since the Tampa City Council was presented with statistical evidence that there was a problem with nighttime juvenile crime and victimization, Tampa's Ordinance was a legislative response which sought to promote parental responsibility, prevent juvenile victimization and stop juvenile crime. Thus, Tampa has a compelling interest and therefore can regulate a minor's activity during the night.

The regulation also promotes the compelling interest and is narrowly tailored to advance that interest. Here the Curfew Ordinance promotes the interest and is narrowly tailored to advance that interest since it seeks only to prevent the aimless roaming of the streets during curfew hours. The Ordinance excepts from its reach a host of legitimate activity and allows

minors to exercise all First Amendment rights. Keeping minors at home or under adult supervision promotes parental responsibility and protection from victimization. It also helps in the prevention of juvenile crime. The Ordinance is narrowly tailored to advance that interest since all activity is sanctioned if accompanied by a parent or if the activity is excepted from the Ordinance.

The Ordinance does not infringe on a parent's right to raise a child free from governmental intrusion and thus constitutional. A governmental intrusion into personal decision making must promote the compelling state interest of preventing a demonstrable harm to a child. Here, that compelling state interest exists in preventing juvenile victimization from crime. Thus, the Ordinance does not violate a parent's right to raise a child free from government intrusion.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# THE TAMPA JUVENILE CURFEW ORDINANCE IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

This Court has determined that the proper standard of review of a juvenile curfew ordinance is strict scrutiny analysis of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. T.M. v. State, 784 So.2d 442 (Fla. 2001). The State submits that juvenile curfew ordinances drafted with the specificity of Tampa's Juvenile Curfew Ordinance, are not violative of either the United States Constitution or the Florida Constitution. Qutb v. Strauss, 11 F.3d 488 (5th Cir. 1993), cert. denied sub nom. Qutb v. Bartlett, 114 S. Ct. 2134 (1994).

Under strict scrutiny analysis, the government must demonstrate a compelling state interest for a law which infringes on a fundamental right. If there is not a compelling state interest for the law, the government may not even attempt to regulate the right in question. Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S.

Article I, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution, Florida's Equal Protection Clause, has been given the same scope as the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The Florida High School Activities Ass'n., Inc. v. Thomas, 434 So.2d. 306 (Fla. 1983). Thus the State will rely on federal as well as state law to determine the propriety of the claim. Traylor v. State, 596 So.2d. 957 (Fla. 1992).

330, 342 (1972). Although the government must establish a compelling state interest, such an establishment, in and of itself, is insufficient to defeat an equal protection challenge. In furtherance of the compelling state interest, the government cannot choose means that unnecessarily burden or restrict constitutionally protected activity. Laws affecting constitutional rights must be drawn with "precision," NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 438 (1963), and must be "tailored" to serve their legitimate objectives. Shapiro v. Thompson, 394 U.S. 618, 631 (1969). If there are other reasonable ways to achieve those goals with a lesser burden on constitutionally protected activity, the government may not choose the way of greater interference. If the government acts at all, it must choose "less drastic means." Shelton v. Tucker, 364 U.S. 479, 488 (1960). In re Estate of Greenberg, 390 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1980). Thus, the "strict scrutiny" test under equal protection analysis, requires that the State establish that the juvenile curfew ordinance is necessary to promote a compelling governmental interest and must be narrowly tailored to advance that interest. T.M. v. State, 784 So.2d 442, 443 n.1 (Fla. 2001).

Although a juvenile curfew ordinance implicates the fundamental rights of minors, the strict scrutiny analysis of

those rights differ from the strict scrutiny analysis of the same rights of adults.

Constitutional rights do not mature and come into being magically only when one attains the state-defined age of majority. Minors, as well as adults, are protected by the Constitution and possess constitutional rights. The Court indeed, however, long has recognized that the State has somewhat broader authority to regulate the activities of children than of adults. It remains, then, to examine whether there is any significant state interest in [the effect of the ordinance] that is not present in the case of an adult.

Planned Parenthood of Cent. Missouri v. Danforth, 428 U.S. 52, 74-75 (1976). Thus minors' rights are not coextensive with the rights of adults because the State has a greater range of interests that justify the infringement of minors' rights.

In Bellotti v. Baird, 443 U.S. 622 (1979) the United States Supreme Court recognized three reasons for allowing a court to treat the rights of minors differently from the rights of adults. They are the peculiar vulnerability of children; their inability to make critical decisions in an informed, mature manner; and the importance of the parental role in child rearing. The foregoing test enables courts to determine whether the State has a compelling interest justifying greater restrictions on juveniles than on adults. Nunez v. City of San Diego, 114 F.3d 935, 945 (9th Cir. 1997); Qutb v. Strauss, 11

F.3d 488, 492 n.6 (5th Cir. 1993).

It is within this framework that this Court must apply strict scrutiny review of the juvenile curfew since it seeks to regulate the fundamental right liberty right of minors to walk the streets free from governmental interference. The juvenile curfew also seeks to regulate a parent's due process right to rear children without undue governmental interference. The State will first address the effect the juvenile curfew has on minors' rights and then on parents' rights.

#### STRICT SCRUTINY REVIEW

In order to survive strict scrutiny, the classification created by the juvenile curfew ordinance must be narrowly tailored to promote a compelling governmental interest. *Plyler v. Doe*, 457 U.S. 202, 217 (1982). To be narrowly tailored, there must be a sufficient nexus between the stated government interest and the classification created by the ordinance. *Id.* at 216-17.

# THE CITY OF TAMPA'S COMPELLING GOVERNMENTAL INTEREST

Tampa, as evidenced in Section 14-26.1(f) of the Ordinance, has stated its compelling interest as follows:

(f) The purposes of this article are:

- (1) to protect juveniles from themselves and from other citizens, residents and visitors of the City of Tampa from the dangers of crime which occur on sidewalks, streets, and in public places, and semi-public places during late night and early morning hours.
- (2) to decrease the amount of criminal activity engaged in by juveniles
- (3) to promote and enhance parental control over juveniles.

The foregoing purposes of the Ordinance establish a compelling governmental interest since the City has a compelling interest in protecting the entire community from crime, *Schall v. Martin*, 467 U.S. 253, 264 (1984), including juvenile crime. The City's interest in protecting the safety and welfare of its minors is also a compelling interest. *Nunez v. City of San Diego*, 114 F.3d 935, 946 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997); *Qutb v. Strauss*, 11 F.3d 488, 492 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993).

The City also has a compelling interest in protecting minors from the dangers of public places at night. This interest is particularly compelling based on the *Bellotti* reasons regarding differential treatment of minors.<sup>2</sup> The consideration of the

The City can have a compelling interest in protecting minors from certain conduct that it does not have for adults. Sable Communications  $v.\ FCC$ , 492 U.S. 115 (1989)(holding that a ban on dial-a-porn is not appropriate for adults, although it might be for minors).

Bellotti factors establishes that the greater restrictions of may be justified they have minors because а vulnerability at night than do adults and because minors are not equally able as adults to make mature decisions regarding the safety of themselves and others. Prince v. Massachusetts, 321 U.S. 158, 167-68 (1944)(finding that the state's interest in protecting children from "diverse interests of the street" justified restriction on selling street literature that would not have been permissible on adults). Thus, the City's conclusion that minors are more susceptible to the dangers of the night and are generally less equipped to deal with the danger that does arise also establishes a compelling interest in placing greater restrictions on minors than adults to insure the minors' own safety.

In accordance with the foregoing, there is a compelling governmental interest under the Equal Protection Clause to safeguard the well-being of children. This includes the protection of minors from adults and other minors and this is based on the fact that minors do not have the capacity to make informed decisions on matters critical to their well-being. Thus, Tampa's goals of promoting parental responsibility for their minor children, the protection of minors from victimization and exposure to criminal activity, and to decrease

the amount of juvenile crime are the compelling governmental interests necessary to allow the regulation of minors' rights to walk freely in public during nighttime hours. *Metropolitan Dade County v. Pred*, 665 So.2d 252 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); *Nunez v. City of San Diego*, 114 F.3d 935, 946 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997); *Qutb v. Strauss*, 11 F. 3d 488 (5th Cir. 1993).

#### THE ORDINANCE IS NARROWLY TAILORED

The State submits that Tampa's Juvenile Curfew Ordinance is narrowly tailored to promote the goals of insuring parental responsibility and preventing juvenile victimization and crime, since the record reflects statistical support for the need of the curfew<sup>3</sup> and the exceptions are sufficiently broad to only minimally burden minors' rights to free movement and free speech.

#### STATISTICAL SUPPORT FOR THE CURFEW

Initially, the State submits that statistical support for

Although statistical support for the curfew was not provided to the trial court, statistical support was provided to the Tampa City Council when the curfew ordinance was enacted. The Petitioner requested the Second District to take judicial notice of those statistics, but the motion was denied. For ease of reference, the statistics are contained in the Appendix to this brief.

the curfew is unnecessary to determine if it is narrowly tailored to survive strict scrutiny review. The Constitution does not require the government to produce "scientifically certain criteria of legislation." Ginsberg v. New York, 390 U.S. 629, 642-43 (1968). A number of courts have not required statistical support in upholding juvenile curfews.

In Bykofsky v. Borough of Middletown, 401 F.Supp. 1242 (M.D. Pa. 1975), affm'd, 535 F.2d 1245 (3d Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 964 (1976), a curfew ordinance was challenged, and the governmental interests it sought to enhance were:

(1) the protection of the younger children in Middletown from each other and from other persons on the street during night time hours; (2) the enforcement of parental control of and responsibility for their children; (3) the protection of the public from nocturnal mischief by minors; and (4) reduction in the incidence of juvenile criminal activity.

Id. at 1255. In finding that the curfew ordinance furthered its purposes the Court found, that even in the absence of any statistical data, it would take judicial notice of the rapidly increasing crime rate among juveniles and that teenagers commit a high percentage of all serious crimes and that a curfew would prevent some juvenile crime. As to enhancing parental control, the Court took judicial notice of the following:

... Moreover, the underlying assumption that

likelihood of criminal activity decreases as the amount of control exercised by parents the activities of their children increases is not an unreasonable tenet. The greater the breakdown in the social structure of the family unit or the greater the parental neglect, then the greater the chance of anti-social behavior by the minor. Thus, to the extent the curfew induces parents, under the pain of imposition of a criminal penalty, to exercise their control where they otherwise might allow children freer rein and ignore their nighttime whereabouts and activities, it is effective in decreasing nocturnal juvenile crime and mischief and in strengthening the family unit.

#### Id. at 1256.

Arizona, in In the Matter of the Appeal of Maricopa County, 887 P. 2d 599 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1994), argued that all three of the Bellotti factors supported the constitutionality of the Phoenix juvenile curfew ordinance. It asserted that youths are more vulnerable to crime and peer pressure than adults; that minors lack experience, perspective and judgment to recognize and avoid detrimental choices such as drugs, alcohol and crime; and that the city's restriction on minors' movement after 10:00 p.m. reinforces parental authority and home life, and encourages parents to actively supervise their children.

The Court found that the foregoing purposes established the compelling state interest. The first *Bellotti* factor, particular vulnerability of minors, was satisfied since the

curfew was directed at crime and drugs and they are more damaging to minors based on their vulnerability. The second Bellotti factor, the inability to make critical decision, was also satisfied because the minors' vulnerability renders their decision making process suspect. Finally, the third Bellotti factor, the importance of the parental role to child rearing, was also satisfied. For the third factor the Court took judicial notice of the fact that the curfew ordinance rests on the implicit assumption that the traditional two parent family has dissolved. As such, the State has an interest in reaching those families and helping them cope with reality.

If there is a need for statistical data, the State's statistical evidence in the instant case clearly establishes the necessary statistical support for the curfew. During the Tampa City Council's public hearing on the need for a juvenile curfew statistical evidence was presented concerning juvenile arrests and victimization for the years of 1994 and 1995. These statistics were compiled from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement and the Tampa Police Department records. They were restricted to juveniles between the ages of 6 to 16 and excluded domestic violence victims. (A. 13-14).

The arrest statistics established that for the combined years the total number of juvenile arrests was 11,387. The

total number of juvenile arrests that occurred between 11p.m. and 6a.m. was 1,273 and that those arrested that were 16 years old or younger was 462. The percentage of juvenile arrests that occurred between 11p.m. and 6a.m. was 11.18% and the percentage of those arrested that were 16 years old or younger was 36.29%. (A. 13).

The victimization statistics established that for the combined years the total number of juvenile victims was 6,807. The total number of juvenile's that were victims of crimes that occurred between 11p.m. and 6a.m. was 3,849 and that those victimized that were 16 years old or younger was 295. The percentage of juvenile victimization that occurred between 11p.m. and 6a.m. was 56.54% and the percentage of those victimized that were 16 years old or younger was 7.66%. (A. 14).

As established by the foregoing, Tampa had a real problem with juvenile crime and victimization during the curfew hours. Thus, the City Council's legislative decision to enact a juvenile curfew as a means of addressing the problem has a legitimate connection to its compelling interest of reducing juvenile crime and victimization.

The fact that the foregoing statistical evidence does not necessarily establish a logical connection between the ordinance and the reduction of crime and juvenile victimization is of no

moment. These same concerns were considered and rejected in Nunez v. City of San Diego, 114 F.3d 935, 948 (9th Cir. 1997).

Notwithstanding our expressed concerns, we reject a challenge to the ordinance that is based on the argument that a curfew is not particularly effective a meeting the City's interest. The City has established some nexus between the curfew and its compelling interest of reducing juvenile and victimization. This particularly true because of our conclusion that minors have a special vulnerability to the dangers of the streets at night. will not dismiss the City's legislative conclusion that the curfew will have a salutary effect on juvenile crime and victimization.

The Second District refused to consider the foregoing statistics which the Tampa City Council considered when it found that a problem existed with nighttime juvenile crime and victimization. It was these statistics which was the basis for the legislative response of the enactment on the instant juvenile curfew ordinance. The Second District's refusal was based on the fact that these statistics were never presented to the trial court and thus denied Petitioner's request, prior to the instant opinion, to take judicial notice of these statistics and after the opinion was issued denied Petitioner's motion for rehearing which requested a limited remand to the trial court for consideration of these statistics.

Instead, the Second District analyzed the issue as if the

Tampa City Council passed its juvenile curfew ordinance without a specific need. Thus the Second District's analysis of whether Tampa had a compelling governmental need for a juvenile curfew was based on the general proposition that a governmental agency may have compelling governmental interest in controlling the whereabouts of juveniles during late hours. The Second District then held that absent any specific statistics that establish a compelling governmental need for a juvenile curfew, Tampa's juvenile curfew was not narrowly tailored to, based on the generalized finding, to withstand strict scrutiny review.

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