## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case SC02-2288

No.

J.P.,

:

Respondent.

:

# DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RICHARD J. SANDERS
Assistant Public Defender

## FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0394701

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

## TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State's statement of the case and facts is accurate.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Tampa juvenile curfew is a state-formulated and state-imposed blueprint regarding the "proper" way to raise curfew-aged minors during curfew hours. This, the state cannot do. The curfew is vague and it fails the strict scrutiny test.

The curfew is vague because it is not clear who it applies to, how it is to be enforced, and what activities it excepts. Thus, it is subject to discriminatory enforcement.

The curfew fails the strict scrutiny test because it outlaws conduct the state has no compelling interest in regulating and it allows conduct in which the state interests which justify the curfew are implicated (often

to a greater extent that in conduct the curfew forbids). The curfew prohibits minors from engaging in (and their parents from allowing them to engage in) many activities which do not expose minors to significant danger or cause any serious harm, while also permitting many activities that may expose minors to significant harm. Although the state has compelling interests here, the curfew is not narrowly tailored to promote those interests by the least restrictive means.

Adult curfews are subject to strict scrutiny. They are valid if justified by an emergency and limited to cover only the affected area for a brief time. Jeffrey F. Ghent, Validity and Construction of Curfew Statute, Ordinance, or Proclamation, 59 A.L.R.3d 321 (1974). The Tampa curfew clearly fails this test.

Non-emergency juvenile curfews may be valid if they promote a state interest that applies to minors but not to adults. There are two such interests: 1) protecting minors from their own poor decisions on important matters (decisions that may lead to crime commission or victimization); and 2) supporting the authority of parents who want the curfew.

These interests overlap to some degree. The poor decision-making interest does not authorize state regulation of any activity of minors that may involve decisions. Rather, this interest is compelling when minors are faced with decisions that require some maturity to make and that may significantly affect their lives. In such cases, the state has an interest in "protect[ing] its youth from ... their own immaturity by requiring parental consent to or involvement in important decisions by minors." Bellotti v. Baird, 443 U.S. 622, 638 (1979).

However, "state deference to parental control over children" is the constitutional norm because "[the parenting] process, in large part, is beyond the competence of impersonal political institutions" and "the parental role implies a substantial measure of authority over one's children." Id. Thus, while the state may enact regulations on minors that are "supportive of the parental role," id., the state cannot interference in areas where reasonable parents may disagree on proper child-rearing, in order to enforce some state-formulated vision that may conflict with the wishes of many par-

<sup>1</sup> The state cannot "standardize its children," <u>Pierce v. Society</u> of Sisters, 268 U.S. 510, 535 (1925), or require them or their parents to "conform to some state-designed ideal .... " Hodgson v. <u>Minnesota</u>, 497 U.S. 417, 452 (1990). "[T]he state may not ... legislate on the generalized assumption that a parent ... will not act in his or her child's best interests .... " Id. at 454, n. 37. "[S]ome parents may at times be acting against the interests of their children, " but that does not lead to "[t]he statist notion that [the state] should supersede parental authority in <u>all</u> cases because <u>some</u> parents abuse and neglect children"; nor is state intervention allowed "[s]imply because the decision of a parent ... involves risks .... " Parham v. J.R., 443 U.S. 584, 603 (1979). "The fundamental liberty interest of natural parents in the care, custody and management of their children does not evaporate simply because they have not been model parents .... " Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 753 (1982). "The regulation of constitutionally protected decisions ... must be predicated on legitimate state concerns other than disagreement with the choice the individual has made." Hodgson, 497 U.S. at 435.

Some cases identify "preventing juvenile crime and victimization" as a state interest promoted by curfews. However, the state has the same interest with respect to adults; this interest does not justify greater regulation of minors and will not justify a curfew. To the extent that "preventing juvenile crime and victimization" really means "protecting juveniles from their own poor decisions," this is an interest that justifies greater regulation of minors; but that interest is a "poor decision-making" interest, not a "crime or victimization prevention" interest.

Some cases suggest the state interest here is compelling parents who have lost control of their children to reestablish that control. However, the Tampa curfew is not targeted at such parents (unless we assume the parents of any child who is out during curfew doing something other than what the state thinks appropriate -- as established by the curfew's exceptions -- have lost control of that child). Further, the curfew allows parents to avoid all responsibility for curfew violations by simply notifying the police that their children are out without their permission. See Tampa City Code ("TCC") 14-26, sec. 6(a). Further, it is absurd to think that a state-imposed curfew will help parents reestablish authority over their children. Further, this is not a separate interest distinct from the poor decision-making interest. We identify "lost control" parents by the fact that they are not preventing their children's poor decisions; indeed, if the children are not making poor decisions, the state has no authority to intervene, even if parents have lost control. Thus, a curfew targeted at children making poor decisions will inevitably net "lost control" parents. However, since the Tampa curfew is not targeted at juveniles making poor decisions, it is not targeted at "lost control" parents.

The Tampa curfew is not narrowly tailored to promote either interest. The poor decision-making factor is not equally present at all times in all minors out during curfew. Many minors, engaged in many activities the curfew outlaws, are in no danger of making poor decisions with disastrous results. Since the curfew does not target those minors and activities when poor decision-making is a significant risk, the curfew sweeps too broadly.

As to the parental support interest, since the curfew applies regardless of whether parents want it, it is not narrowly tailored to promote that interest. The curfew restricts parental discretion regarding a crucial part of childrearing: decisions concerning when children will be allowed some independence at night. Such decisions are difficult and they must be based on a careful assessment of many factors, including the child's matu-

Finally, the state may intervene on the basis that parents have lost control only upon a case-specific finding that particular parents have indeed lost control. <u>Troxel v. Granville</u>, 530 U.S. 57, 68-69 (2000); <u>Action for Childrens' Television v. F.C.C.</u>, 58 F.3d 654, 678-79 (D.C. Cir. 1995)(Edwards, C.J., dissenting).

Thus, there is a crucial distinction between state regulations designed to <u>support</u> parental authority and regulations designated to <u>supersede</u> that authority. The latter promote the independent state interest in preventing harm to children resulting from parental abuse or neglect.

rity, her companions, and the activities she will engage in. Since such decisions relate to "the care, custody and management" of children, the state constitution protects such decisions as fundamental parental rights.

Von Eiff v. Azicri, 720 So. 2d 510, 513 (Fla. 1998). The state cannot interfere with parental decisions unless "significant harm to the child [is] threatened by or result[s] from those decisions." Id. at 514. The curfew is not limited to such decisions. The curfew usurps the authority of parents who believe they are better able than the state to decide what is best for their children.

The curfew is also underinclusive with respect to both interests. As to poor decision-making, the curfew's exceptions allow minors to be out in numerous circumstances where poor decisions may be made as easily as when minors are not within an exception. As to parental support, the curfew allows minors to be out in numerous circumstances (including some where poor decision-making is a risk) regardless of whether parents approve.

The primary problem with juvenile curfews is that they are not really intended to prohibit what they ex-

pressly prohibit, i.e., mere presence in public during curfew hours. Rather, they are intended to give police a reason to sweep perceived "troublemakers" off the street when there is no other reason to do so. Curfews are really intended to target minors who are "hanging out." However, curfews do not expressly prohibit hanging out, for obvious reasons: A law that used such language would be unconstitutionally vague. 2 Curfews approach the problem from the other direction: They provide a laundry list of state-approved activities and assume that minors not engaged in such activities are hanging out (and thus engaged in activities deemed unworthy or dangerous). The flaws in this assumption are that: 1) Curfew activities the state disapproves have no value or are potentially dangerous; and 2) activities the state approves are not. The usefulness and dangerousness of a particular activity depends on numerous factors (e.g., minors' and parents' personal view of what is "useful" activity, the minor's character, the surrounding circumstances); the crude assumptions curfews are based upon are invalid.

<sup>2</sup>See City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 57-58;
Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 162 (1972); Nunez
v. City of San Diego, 114 F.3d 935, 941 (9th Cir. 1997).

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE TAMPA CURFEW IS VAGUE AND IT FAILS THE STRICT SCRU-

#### I. THE TAMPA CURFEW IS VAGUE

#### A. APPLICATION AND ENFORCEMENT

The Tampa curfew applies to persons under seventeen "whose disabilities have not been removed by marriage or by a court ... or otherwise." TCC 14-26, sec. 2(d). It is not clear what "or otherwise" means.

The curfew makes it unlawful for parents "or other adult[s] having the care, custody or control of a juvenile to allow said juvenile to violate the curfew ...."

Id., sec. 6. The meaning of "adult ... having the care, custody or control" is unclear. Cf. Hallberg v. State, 649 So. 2d 1355, 1357-58 (Fla. 1994), with Crocker v.

State, 752 So. 2d 615, 616-17 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999).

It is also unlawful for "any business or other establishment to knowingly permit a juvenile to remain ... upon the premises ... during curfew hours." TCC 14-26, sec. 7. The meaning of "other establishment" is unclear. Establishments cannot allow minors on premises even if they are within an exception: The parental sec-

tion uses the phrase "allow the juvenile to violate the curfew," while the establishment section uses "remain ... upon the premises ... during curfew." This means minors cannot lawfully be at establishments for any reason during curfew. Thus, minors cannot visit establishment premises even if they are with a parent.

The curfew's enforcement provisions are problematic. Sections 2(i) and 3 provide that a minor violates the curfew if he fails to "leave premises" when "request[ed]" to do so by a police officer. "Request" means "order"; failure to obey a "request" is an unlawful "remain[ing]." Id., sec. 2(i)(2).

Presumably, "premises" refers to "business or other establishments." The curfew provides no guidance concerning when an officer may order a minor to "leave premises." If this is read as meaning the order is valid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Compare TCC 14-26, secs. 2(j) and 7, with the similar curfew at issue in Metropolitan Dade County v. Pred, 665 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)(Dade County Ordinance 94-1, secs. 5(f) and (i)) and the interpretation of similar exceptions in Hutchins v. District of Columbia, 188 F.3d 531, 545 (D.C. Cir. 1999), Schleifer v. City of Charlottesville, 159 F.3d 843, 854 (4th Cir. 1998), and Outb v. Strauss, 11 F.3d 484, 495 (5th Cir. 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Under section 2(i), a "request" to leaves premises may be made by "a police officer or the ... person in control of the premises." If this was intended to mean that the officer can order minors to leave premises only if requested by the "person in control," that intent was poorly expressed.

only if the minor is violating the curfew, it conflicts with the curfew's other enforcement provisions. Under section 5, the officer is not to simply "request" violators to "leave premises"; rather, the officer "shall [either] make arrangements for the juvenile to return home [or] take the juvenile into custody." Id., secs. 5(d) and (e). Thus, it appears the curfew gives police unfettered discretion to order minors to "leave premises" even though there is no curfew violation, with it being a violation to disobey the order. This is unconstitutional. See Morales, 527 U.S. at 56-57;

Papachristou, 405 U.S. at 170; Allen v. Bordentown City, 524 A.2d 478, 481 (N.J. Super. 1987).

Sections 5(a)-(c) authorize police to detain a "suspected juvenile in violation of the curfew" and require the suspect to identify himself and explain his presence, with the officer to "verify" his statements. This authorizes the detention of any person any officer feels might be underage in public during curfew hours.

See Hodgkins v. Goldsmith, 2000 WL 829964 at \*4 (S.D. Ind. July 3, 2000). Although the curfew applies only to under-17s, over-17s who look younger may be detained, at

least for the time it takes to prove their age. The curfew has exceptions but the officer usually will not know before the detention whether a suspect is within one. Requiring the officer to have reason to believe the suspect is not within an exception before the detention would make valid detentions almost impossible. The determination of whether the suspect is a minor, or is within an exception, is to be made during the detention. See TCC, secs. 5(a)-(d).

However, police cannot detain citizens without a founded suspicion of criminal activity. Sighting an apparent minor during curfew does not provide that suspicion. Although, with a younger minor, it may be possible to tell at a glance that she is underage, the age of older minors is not so obvious. In either case, it is hard to tell if the minor is within an exception, particularly if he is moving at the time; as discussed below, several of the curfew's exceptions include "di-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> When the police began reinforcing the Pinellas Park curfew at issue in the companion case of <u>State v. T.M.</u>, #SC02-2452, four of the first nine "suspected juveniles" detained were in fact overage. Anne Lindberg, <u>Curfew Returns on a Seemingly Peaceful Night</u>, St. Petersburg Times, July 2, 2000, at 4B. <u>See also Brown v. Ashton</u>, 611 A.2d 599, 602 (Md. App. 1992), <u>modified on other grounds</u>, <u>Ashton v. Brown</u>, 660 A.2d 447 (Md. 1995).

rect route" provisos that authorize minors to travel to and from state-approved activities. Stationary minors may also be within an exception; they may be married, emancipated, standing on a permissible sidewalk, homeless, or "exercising First Amendment rights." The mere presence of a "suspected juvenile" during curfew hours does not provide a founded suspicion of a violation.

Compare United State v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 885-86 (1975).

The curfew's "identify and explain presence" provisions, TCC 14-26, sec. 5, are also troublesome. A suspect cannot be compelled to identify himself if the police have no founded suspicion that he committed a crime. Brown v. Texas, 443 U.S. 47 (1979); Kolender, 461 U.S. at 360, n.9 and 362-67. If the police have a founded suspicion, a suspect may be compelled to provide a name and address, but he "cannot be required to explain his presence and conduct; this being constitutionally prohibited." State v. Ecker, 311 So. 2d 104, 108 (Fla. 1975). Presumably, he could not be compelled to reveal his age; in this context, that may be incriminat-

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